Joose Threads at all tales A WORLD OF **ADVENTURE FOR**

Tara Zuber



This adventure was made awesome thanks to our Patreon patrons at patreon.com/evilhat—thanks quvs! INSIDERS

Alan Bartholet Andrew Dunne Andrew Pomfret Ariun Comar Arlo R Evans Bartolome Mavol Ren Mullen Beniamin Patrick Huff Brett Abbott hrian allrod C I Hunter (K Loo Christonher Gunning

A Person

Aaron W Scott **∆**da Adam Ruoblo Adam (Adam Gutschenritter Adrian Arias-Palomo Aharon sharim Al Billings Alan Phillins Alan Timothy Rogers Alan Twigg Alovandor Gräfe Alexander R. Corhett Alistair Allan Brav Allan Samuekon Alloved Amanda Valentine Andrew Andrew Betts Andrew Dacev Andrew Grant Andrew Horn Andrew Loch Andrew Turbott Andv Arminio Angus Anthony Damiani Antoine Pempie Arial Daraira Arlene Medde Arthur Lace ArthurDent Δνίν R Bredthauer Barac Wiley Rastien Daugas Bean Lucas Porca Ren Ben Scerri Ben White Beniamin Cush Reniamin Wandio Reniamin Welke Rill Fastman **Diām Stoffon** Bloomingnerd Ro Madsen Bob Hiestand **Brad Davies Brad Oshorne** Bradley Eng-Kohn Brandon Metcalf Brandon Wiley Prandt Diornson Brendan Conway **Brent Ritch** Brian Prion Croswick Rrian S Holt **Brian Shourd** Brittany Lenda Bruce Pruco Laina Brvan Bryan Gillispie

Christopher Vollick Clvde Clark D C Unton Daniel Gallant Daniel Stack David Dorward David I Kinnev Demian Buckle Dusan Frolkovic Dustin Evermore Edward MacGregor Frank Frádári DOCHADD Garrett Roonev Gavran Brvan Wiltgen Bryce Perry

Bud the Chud

Candida Norwood

Carl McLaughlin

Carlos Flores

, Charles Evans

Chin Dunning

Chris Caporaso

Chris Mitchell

Chris Nolen

Chris Rigaux

Christoph Thill

Christonher Allen

Christonher Hatty

Christopher Smith

Christopher Stilson

Stone-Bush

Adair

Christopher

Churk Dee

Colin Matter

Corey Johnston

count-hanana

Craig Mason

Curt Mever

Curtis Hav

Dain

(vrano lones

Damon Richard

Daniel Chanman

Daniel Kraemer

Daniel Markwig

Daniel Taylor

Daniele Galli

Darren Lute

Dave Ioria

David Bellinger

David Bowers

David Fergman

David Goodwin

David Griffith

David Haves

David Hicks

David Manlo

David Olson

2 hived

David Millians

David Morrison

David Silherstein

David Starner

David Stern

David Wendt

Davido Orlandi

Declan Feenev

Denis Rvan

David

Daniel Ley

Daniel Ryrne

Creative Play and

Colin

Christian

Cerity

Chirag

Glenn Mochon

Graham Wills

Thunestvedt

Isabelle Parslev

J Quincy Sperber

Jason Cotton

loff Chaffoo

leff Craig

lofwfunk

lim Hart

Jeremv DeVore

Jeremy Tidwell

lim Nicholson

Haakon

IM

Derek Hiemforth Devon Annie dharp Dianne Didier Bretin Dillard Dirk Methner Don Arnold Don Risdorf Don Schlaich donald murray Drew Shiel Drew Smith Duane Cathey DudeInTheNight Duncan Dylan Green Fhenezer Arvinenius Edward Sturges Christopher L Newton Fhedei Eirch Mascariatu Elliott M. Erooman Flsa S. Henry Elsidar Amhransidhe Emissarv0fZork Christopher W. Dolunt Emmanuel Emmanuel Genot Enrique Esturillo Cano eric Fric Rontz Eric I Eric Proton Eric Willisson Podcast Network Erich Lichnock Erik Ingersen Frika Finhraaten Frnie Sawver Esteban Jauregui Lorda Evan Ringo Ezokial Norton Fabrice Breau Daniel Ellingsen Lund FeITK Fide Elorian Groß Francisco Castillo Frank Frank Reave Frank Jarome Frankio Mundone Gareth Marshall Garrett Garrett Jones Garth Rose Gary Anastasio Genevieve Geoff George Harnish Gian Domonico Farchini Glvnn Stewart Graham Meiner Graham Owens Greg Matvola Gread Workman Gregory Fisher Gregory Hirsch Gustavo Campanelli Hakushaku Harry

Joakim Andersson loe Trzos John Rogers John Rudd Ion-Pierre Gentil Joshua Lutz Justin Evans Katie Ramsev Keith Stanley Ken Ditto Kioron Martin Laura LilEluff Lowell Francis

Heather Henry Gaudet . Herman Duyker LIED Howard M Thompson lan Charlton lan Toltz Indi Latrani Irene Strauss Istrian Grav lack Gulick Jackson Hsieh Jamos Roal James Boldock James Dezomits James Endicott lames Hoag James Husum lames Marston lames Odom James Pacheco Jamos Winfield lamie Wheeler Janet Jared Hunt Jason lason Rean lason Rest Jason Heredia lason Pasch Iscon Donnou lason Torri Javna Pavlin Jeff Mahood leff Pitrman leff Vincent leffrey Roman , leffrev Collver Jens long Alfko Jeremiah McCov Jeremv Jeremy Glick Jeremy Hamake leremy Kear IF Paradis Joanna Joe loo Littroll Ine Patterson Inel Really , Johannes K. Rasmussen Johannes Onnermann lohn lohn John Arcadian John Revnon John Rogart John Clavton John Fiala John Griogair Bell John Halsev John Helmuth John Lambert John Portley John S. Eotzik John Taher John Tohin

Marc Mundet Mark Marty Chodorek Matt and Nykki Roorema Matt Anderson Matthow Whiteacre Michael Bowman Michael Cambata Michael Dean Hannah Michael Meriwn Michael Monahan Michael Pedersen

MAINGLIFT Francois **ADVENTURERS** Johnathan Wright

Jon C.

lon Smoikal

Ionas Matser

Jonathan

Jose A.

Joshua

lustin

lustin

Krista

Kvle

Loho

Luka

m h

Marc

Marcus

Mark

Mark

John William McDonald Markus Wagner Martin Martin Denne Martin Folczorok Martin Terrier Marty Gentillon Mathias Exner Matt Hourk Matt Landis Matt Timm Matthew Broome Matthew Caron Matthew I Hanson Matthew Price Matthew Whalley Max Max Kaehn Melanie Patstone Micah Davis Michael Michael Michael Parrett Michael Bradford Michael Brewer Michael D. Blanchard Michael D. Ranalli Ir Michael Hill Michael Honcroft Michael Shumate Michael Thompson Mike Verment Mirko Froehlich Miscellaneous Musings Mitchell Smallman Mook Nat Nat Nathan Barnes Nathan Hare Nathan Dood Nessalantha Nichlas Dvhr Hummelsberge Nicholas Honkins Nicholas Pilon Nick Nick Bate Nick pater Nicolas Docombio Noel Warford Obsessive Comics Disorder Olav Müllor Olivier Nisole naolo castelli . Patrice Hédé Patrice Mermoud Datrick Chanman Patrick Ewing Patrick Fittkau Patrick Mueller-Bes Paul Paul Arezina Paul Olson Paul Rivers Pavel 7hukov Dotor Griffith Peter James Rurczyk Peter Kahle

Mitchell Evans Morgan Ellis Nick Daly Nick Reale Nicola Urbinati Nicolas Marianovic Osve Pritchett Peter Gates Peter Woodworth Philip Nicholls Pachaol Hivon Randy Oest Richard Rellingham

Dhol

Rick Rick Jakins Robert Hanz Robert Kemp Roger Edge Rvan Singer Sarah Vakos Sean M. Dunstan Soon O'Doll Selene O'Rourke Stanhan Didar Thom Terrific Tim N Timothy Carroll Petri Leinonen Phil Groff Philippe Marichal Dhilinno Sanor Phillin Wehh PK Porter D D Clark R Rov Ralf Wagner

Ralnh Miller

Randall Orndorff

Dandy Eckonrodo

Randy M Roberts

Rebecca Harbison

Pod Dico Diarios

Remy Sanchez

, Renzo Crisnieri

Rich Hewett

Rich Hilborn

Richard Greene

Richard Lock

Rob Howell

Roh Meyers

Rohh Neumann

Robert Riskin

Robert Huss

Robert Rees

Robert Rydlo

Rodrigo

Roe Portal

Roger Carbol

Don Ericko

Ron Müller

Ruben Smith-Zempel

Rvan (Christiansen

Rvan Gigliotti

Samuel Edwards

Samuel Hart

Samuiso Cridor

Sarah Williams

Schubarca

Scot Ryder

Scott Arker

Scott Dexter

Scott Martin

Scott Millward

Scott Duckott

Scott Thede

Sean Smith

Sean Walsh

Seth Clavton

Seth Halbeisen

Shadowmvre Kalvn

Soth Hartley

Shai Laric

Sharif Ahed

Sean West Money

Sean Sherman

Scott Greenleaf

Rvan lunk

Rov

Robert Slaughter

Rob Voss

Dohort

Richard

Riggah

Rishi

Raun Sedlock

Timothy Masamitsu Trov Rav Tyler Allen Tyler Hunt vargr1 Will Goring William I White William Loo William McDuff 7ach

Shoshana Kessork

Simon Brunning Simon White Simon Withors Sion Rodriguez v Gibson Sławomir Wrzesień Sonhie Lagace Snencer Williams Stefan Feltmann Stephan Stephanie Bryant (Mortaine) Stephen Figgins Stephen Hood Stephen Waugh Steve Discont Steve Kuner Steve Radahaugh Steven Code Steven D Warble Stowon doc larding Steven K Watkins Steven Marklev Stuart Dollar Suond Andorcon Tara Zuher Tatu Sara-aho Teppo Pennanen Teresa O Terry Willitts Tevel Drinkwater The Roach Thomas Thomas Ralls-Thies Thomas Filmehlom Thomas Maund Thomas Off Tim Davis Tim Ponelie Timothy Seiger Todd Estabrook Todd Willey Tom Luongo Tony Ewing Tony Kelly Torolf de Merriba Trevor Crosse Tristan Smith Tsht Tyler Duckworth Tyson Monagle Urs Rhumentritt Victor Allen Ville Lavonius Vladimir Filinović Volker Mantel Vrakul waelcyrne Wavne Coburn Wavne Peacock Wes Fournier Will Fov William Johnson William Pitts Wulf Vonatan Munk 7 Esnate 7eh Walker

Jonathan Ionathan Finke Ionathan Hohhs Ionathan Korman Ionathan Young Iordan Deal Jordan Donnis lordi Aldequer Joseph Formoso Joseph Gamblin losh McIllwain Insh Rose Insh Salvers Jochua Damcow Ioshua Reuhens Juan Francisco Gutierrez Julianna Barker Justin Thomason Kaarchin Karl Thiobolt Katherine Mallo Keith Fannin Kenneth Beniamin Holbert Kent Snven Kevin Lindaren Kevin McDermott KevIn oreilly Kris Vanhovland Krzysztof Chyla Kurt Zdanio Larry Hollis Leif Erik Furmvr Lester Ward Lisa Harties Lore Graham Loren Norman Luca Agosto M Sawi Manfred Marc Kowin Hall Marcel Lotz Marcel Wittram Mario Dongu Mark & Schmidt Mark Diaz Truman Mark Harris Mark Widner Markus Haberstock



A WORLD OF ADVENTURE FOR



WRITING & ADVENTURE DESIGN

ED TURNER & ROB DONOGHUE

EDITING

PROJECT MANAGEMENT

SEAN NITTNER

ART DIRECTION

BRIAN PATTERSON

LAYOUT FRED HICKS

INTERIOR & COVER ARTWORK

TYLER CLARK

MARKETING CARRIE HARRIS

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT





An Evil Hat Productions Publication www.evilhat.com • feedback@evilhat.com @EvilHatOfficial on Twitter facebook.com/EvilHatProductions

Loose Threads

Copyright © 2016 Evil Hat Productions, LLC and Tara Zuber. All rights reserved.

First published in 2016 by Evil Hat Productions, LLC. 10125 Colesville Rd #318, Silver Spring, MD 20901.

Evil Hat Productions and the Evil Hat and Fate logos are trademarks owned by Evil Hat Productions, LLC. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior express permission of the publisher.

That said, if you're doing it for personal use, knock yourself out. That's not only allowed, we encourage you to do it. For those working at a copy shop and not at all sure if this means the person standing at your counter can make copies of this thing, they can. This is "express permission." Carry on.

This is a game where people make up stories about wonderful, terrible, impossible, glorious things. All the characters and events portrayed in this work are fictional. Any resemblance to real people, pretend people, fairy tales, animals who talk, animals who don't, blackbirds, living toys, or giants both affable and awful is purely coincidental, but kinda hilarious.

CONTENTS

Introduction	2
The Important Question	2
Running the Game	2
Using This Text	4
Resources	4
Character Creation	5
Concept	5
Aspects	6
Skills	
Mr. Fox, the Phase Trio Adventure	
The Warp of the Tale—New Mechanics	15
Your Heart's Desire	15
Your Tension in Play	16
Favors	
Advancement	20
The Story	
Using a Nontraditional Fairy-Tale Setting	
Constructing an Adventure	
Problem	
Investigation	
In-Between	
Snags in the Story	
Solutions	
Return	
Creating NPCs	
Pecked to Death	
Request for Aid	
Investigation	
The Heart of the Forest	
Stopping the Birds	
The Return	
The Strangers You Meet	40

INTRODUCTION

In a world rife with war and distress, people carve out happiness where and how they can. Their fairy tales inspire others, but not without cost. The story shoves aside the people on the edges or hurts them in favor of someone else's "happy" ending.

You know that cost all too well—after all, you're either escaping from or have been changed by a story. You no longer fit within your old comfortable categories and, unable to settle, shift between warring possibilities, desires, or states. Over time you've met others like you: people who are uncertain where they belong, but are at least certain that no one else should be collateral damage for a happily ever after. You travel together around the world and deep into the In-Betweens, those liminal spaces of strange magic and uncertain rules, rescuing children from ogres, reversing curses, and saving towns from the stranglehold of bandits.

You've done well for yourselves. You've even started to build up a reputation as the kind of people who can help. They call you the Company, but how long can you keep this up? Every story, even yours, must end eventually. You can't live on the road forever. Someday you'll have to decide who you really are and where you belong.

The Important Question

Fairy tales reveal a world full of deep class divides that only wit and magic can breach and dangerous landscapes fraught with mischievous magic, ogres, robbers, and war. Those who survive do so through a series of bargains, not all of which pay off. And yet—wit, magic, and optimism have a chance. Sometimes, even the dead can get justice or revenge.

Around the edges of these stories, however, are those who did not get a fairy godmother, who did not solve the riddle, whose brothers did not ride to their rescue, whose sister did not save them.

The Company operates within the world of fairy tales, asking not "What happens after happily ever after?" but "What happens to those who never had a chance?" The anonymous townspeople, cursed servants, older brothers and stepsisters, and towns where no plucky child has conquered their resident bogeyman need heroes.

Normal people avoid magical entanglements—that's why their stories are so often about unusual incidents of magic. Magic is not a constant presence, but rather a special item, a strange encounter, or an odd location—out of the ordinary, *worthy* of story. Luckily for all those people needing heroes, the members of the Company aren't normal either. They confront the magical on the behalf of everyone who isn't lucky enough to get magic acting in their favor.

What happens to those who never had a chance?

The Company steps in.

Running the Game

Loose Threads is based on *Fate Core*. Though its adventure, *Pecked to Death*, assumes a familiar world of dark forests and scattered towns, any setting will work. Magic defies boundaries; that's what makes it so dangerous.

So, if you love sci-fi, set the adventures on a series of space stations and a planet on the brink of disaster. If you've been craving a high-school setting, then hide the secret magical spaces within the perpetually out-of-order bathroom stall and the pool everyone swears exists but can never find.

Loose Threads will help you tell a *type* of story. Where you tell that story is entirely up to you. Just make sure your group agrees on the general setting before moving on to creating characters or your story.

No matter the setting, however, you must keep two key concepts in mind: cost and balance.

At What Cost?

Nothing in fairy tales comes cheaply. Everything has a cost. Sleeping for a hundred years, turning into or wedding an animal, promising the life of your child, or dying—that's not cheap. When your players take a risk, the risk must always matter. Fairy tales aren't just about the endings; they're about the dangers endured and the consequences paid to reach those endings. They're about the constant balance of risk and reward and the navigation of difficult bargains and hidden dangers. For

every person saved by an early, almost thoughtless kindness, someone dies, gets covered in pitch, or is cursed.

GMs, make the fights difficult and quests nearly impossible. Compel your players often to build up their fate points and then force them to spend every point in a single encounter. Don't be afraid to put your players in a tough spot. Push your players to the brink, strip them down to their essentials, and then reward them for not giving up, pushing back, surviving, and succeeding. For a fuller discussion of cost in Fate in general, check out "At What Cost?" by Mark Diaz Truman in the *Fate Codex*, volume 2, issue 2.

One way *Loose Threads* makes costs count is by changing the characters. The magic the Company confronts on the behalf of their clients always exacts a cost—transformation, loss of vitality, great sacrifice—which the members of the Company must pay. Players will track these changes on their character sheets, but GMs, you'll need to ensure that the costs also matter narratively.

Balance

Balance refers to the various forces that affect the characters and world. Fairy tales stay interesting because they are difficult to define. They are both light and frothy *and* grim and bloody. We rediscover them repeatedly as we grow up, always finding some new aspect we'd missed before.

Loose Threads brings balance to the fore by giving each PC a **tension**. As you'll read in *Character Creation*, each character moves between two poles, such as human and monster, love and power, or family and morality. As the character edges toward one side or the other, they receive both benefits and penalties. These central tensions also explain why the characters are in the Company. Until the characters resolve their tensions, they won't be fully comfortable anywhere they try to belong. If you get stuck, GMs, look at your PCs' tensions and set up a situation that pushes them toward one pole or the other.

Finally, should rules and fiction ever conflict in your game, follow the fiction.

Using This Text

This text is divided into four chapters.

- The first chapter, *Character Creation*, describes how to create a compelling fairy-tale character, including those in non-traditional settings.
- The second chapter, *The Warp of the Tale—New Mechanics*, describes the new mechanical additions to *Loose Threads*, such as tension, favors, and your Heart's Desire. It also gives the modified rules for advancement.
- The third chapter, *The Story*, describes how to set up the world and run a story.
- The fourth chapter, *Pecked to Death*, is the sample adventure.

GMs, you'll need to read everything. Players, you'll read through *Character Creation* and skim through *"Constructing an Adventure"* starting on page 25 to get an idea of the various ways your character sheet will change during play.

Resources

This setting relies heavily on your knowledge of fairy tales. The following websites are valuable resources to build up your story arsenal.

D. L. Ashliman's Folklore and Mythology Archive

http://www.pitt.edu/~dash/folktexts.html

This is one of the best and most comprehensive archives of fairy tales online. Ashliman has organized the stories by trope (e.g., Animal Bridegrooms), which makes finding a certain kind of story or similar tales very easy. He frequently adds to the archive, expanding not only the number of stories, but the range of cultures.

Sur La Lune

http://www.surlalunefairytales.com/

This website hosts only forty-nine fairy tales, but each story includes robust annotations, alternate versions, and links to books, movies, and other media based on that tale. If you want to find a modern retelling of a fairy tale or dig into a tale's symbolism without doing some more academic reading offline, this site is one you'll want to visit.

Besides using a search engine, another good place to find good tales is the **Internet Archive** (*https://archive.org*). Search for "folk tales" to get the most results.

CHARACTER CREATION

Creating a character in *Loose Threads* mostly follows *Fate Core*. For any topic not covered or unclear, follow *Fate Core* rules.

Concept

First, you'll want to choose a fairy tale, either your favorite or another story you think is interesting. Who in the story resonates with you as a possible character?

If your game is in a setting that's different from that of your chosen tale, think about how you could translate your favorite tale into your setting. For help with this translation, take a look at *"Using a Nontraditional Fairy-Tale Setting"* (page 24).

Character Concepts in Nontraditional Settings

Jack was a third-string player who stole a goal no one was expecting against the Giants and turned the momentum of the game around. He likes being popular around school, but he's not sure whether he can pull the feat off again.

Urashima Taro just woke up from cryo—at least, that is the best explanation he has. He'd been offered a chance to help test-pilot a cutting-edge spacecraft, but after leaving the agency's top secret facilities a week later, he's learned that he's nearly two hundred years in the future.

Violetta Miller has built a life for herself in stopping abusers, but now she's learned that the odd man who'd helped her escape her father is actually a serial kidnapper. She doesn't know the man's name; she just knows that nothing will stop her from taking him down.

There are two kinds of ideal characters: fairy-tale protagonists unsatisfied with their ever-after, and side characters who never had a chance. Tying your character to a fairy tale ensures the character fits the flavor of the world. This tie also suggests relationships that the GM can use. If your character is the eldest of three brothers, for example, the GM might pull in your siblings or present clients who are also eldest brothers dealing with similarly brilliant and favored youngest brothers.

Carly is thinking about the character she wants to play. Jack and the Bean Stalk is one of her favorite fairy tales, so she wants to play a character tied to that story. Now she's torn between playing Jack, his mother, the stranger who bought the cow, or one of the people whose home was crushed by the falling giant and beanstalk...

LOOSE THREADS

Aspects

Now it's time to write the aspects that define the most story-important elements of your character. Each player character in *Loose Threads* has seven aspects, six of which you'll write now. These six are your **high concept**, **Heart's Desire**, **tension**, **motivation or method** for problem-solving, and two **relationships**, which can be with other PCs or with the group as a whole. The **seventh aspect** will be filled in and erased during play.

High Concept

Your high concept summarizes your character's concept. It can be as simple as a title or fairy-tale name—THE LONG-NOSED TROLL PRINCESS, LITTLE RED RIDING HOOD, JACK THE GIANT KILLER, or THE SWAN WING BROTHER, perhaps. Using a fairy-tale name is helpful because most people will know exactly who are or can quickly read the tale that explains you.

A better high concept, however, hints at the spin you're putting on the character and the uncertainty or discontent that keeps them wandering. Maybe Jack dislikes being known for an act he thinks of as accidental—JACK THE SO-CALLED GIANT KILLER—or that he regrets—JACK THE PENITENT GIANT KILLER. If the troll princess from *East of the Sun, West of the Moon* is really just lonely and romantic, a better high concept for her might be SINGLE TROLL PRINCESS SEEKING LOVE.

Make their fairy tale your own. Highlight what most interests you about the character.

Heart's Desire

A Heart's Desire is what your character dreams of, what they want more than anything else. Something they'd risk almost everything to get or protect, a motivation and a source of strength and trouble.

You'll find plenty of Heart's Desires in the Disney princess films. In almost every one, the main character has an "I Wish" song that outlines her Heart's Desire. Ariel wants to explore dry land. Rapunzel wants to see the floating lights. Belle wants an adventure like she's read of in her books. Mulan wants to be accepted for being herself. If your character sang an "I Wish" song, what would it be about?

Though fulfilling your Heart's Desire will benefit you, it can be given up to save another. We'll talk more about the Heart's Desire in play starting on page 15.

Tension

Your character is torn between two dueling ideas, desires, duties, or states. This is their defining tension. The tension keeps your character unsettled, uncertain of who they are, where they belong, or what they should be doing. If they didn't have a tension, they wouldn't be part of the Company.

Traveling into the In-Betweens—strange, magical spaces that straddle the divide between order and chaos—doesn't take special skill, but it does require someone who's willing to repeatedly risk their life and self to do so. Only someone tangled up in uncertainty would travel into the In-Between over and over again.

Write the tension so it describes the two forces tugging on your character. The phrasing can be simple, like **TORN BETWEEN DUTY AND ADVENTURE**, or more

complicated, like **RELUCTANT HEIR SEEKING ADVENTURE**. In both of these cases, the dueling forces are *duty* and *adventure*. A person whose tension is **IT WAS JUST A JOKE!** (**I HATE WHEN THEY CRY**) is torn between causing *chaos* and feeling *compassion*. A tension for a shapeshifting type might be **AM I A MAN OR A BEAST**?, with the forces being *man* and *beast*.

These two forces become the ends of your **tension scale**, with five steps in between. Here is the scale without the forces written in at the ends.



Each force is linked with two of the four actions: overcome, create an advantage, attack, and defend. Each force affects your character differently: The forces cannot both improve or penalize the same action. Likewise, a single force cannot improve and penalize the same action, creating a net zero effect. This means you can write two to four actions on your scale.

Katherine, the **RELUCTANT HEIR SEEKING ADVENTURE**, is torn between two forces: *Duty* and *Adventure*. Katherine's player, Layla, decides that *Duty* will help in creating advantages, because her royal position gives her more power, and that it will hamper attacking, because she has to be more thoughtful and careful. On the other end, she decides that *Adventure* will help in overcoming, because that is what adventures entail, and will hamper defending, because she's more rash.



With those decisions, her scale would look like this:

When you first step toward one end, your rolls for the advantaged action will receive a +1 bonus, while your rolls for the disadvantaged action will take a -1 penalty. Another step increases the bonus and penalty to +2 and -2. The central *Neutral* step does not give any bonus or penalty.

When you finish making your tension scale, place a marker—your **tension marker**—on the center *Neutral* space. You'll find a more detailed description of how your tension and tension scale work in *"Your Tension in Play"* starting on page 16.



Motivation or Method and Relationships

You'll write the next three aspects by running through the Phase Trio adventure Mr. Fox. This adventure is the very first the characters had together and builds up the party. GMs, you'll guide the players through this process in your first session together; everything you need is on page 13.

CREATING A CHARACTER IN PLAY

If you are creating a character at any time after your initial session of character creation, write in your motivation or method aspect by answering one of the questions below, whichever one's more interesting to you. Then, fill in your relationships during or just after your first session. One relationship is with someone in the Company, while the other relationship is your attitude toward the Company as a whole.

- 1. Why do you get involved in others' problems?
- 2. How do you prefer to solve problems?

The Seventh Aspect

The seventh aspect is a special aspect that describes temporary states that affect your character, such as a promise, transformation, or curse. When your character is transformed, cursed, or has made a promise they cannot break, you'll write this state as your seventh aspect. Each PC can only bear one seventh aspect at a time.

If you have made a promise, you cannot be cursed or transformed until you have fulfilled that promise, and vice versa. If you have been cursed, you cannot make a promise or be transformed. Once you have reversed your transformation, broken the curse, or kept—or broken—your promise, clear this aspect.

FATE: WORLDS OF ADVENTURE

Skills

While *Loose Threads* uses the same skill pyramid described in *Fate Core*, the skills are a little different. Highlighted skills are new or have been modified.

Athletics	Investigate	Notice	Shoot
Craft	Lore	Physique	Stealth
Deceive	Magic	Provoke	Theft
Empathy	(Zaps, Alchemy, or Wish)	Rapport	Will
Fight	Resources		

Along with these skills, you might wish to include a setting-specific skill, such as Wilderness, Pilot, Culture, Hack, Flirt, or Navigate. If you do not want to steal or create an eighteenth skill, you can play with seventeen instead.

Drive

Drive is no longer part of the list. *Loose Threads*, in almost every setting, requires travel to meet people, chase down threats, and find solutions. The assumption is that you can get from point A to point B. If the method of travel is an important and specialized skill in your setting, though, then add Drive back in as the setting-specific skill. Otherwise, in chase scenes, roll Athletics; even if your character is driving a car or flying a ship, they will be making split-second decisions and leaning into their dodges and turns. When using modes of transportation your characters usually don't use, roll Craft or Lore. If that mode of transport is an important skill to your character, then create a stunt that adds +2 to your Lore or Craft rolls related to it.

Contacts

Contacts is now part of Resources. Resources are how you leverage your assets and network to do something. The critical questions are *not* "Can I afford this?" or "Do I know the right person?" Assume that you can and do. The critical question instead is "Does it help?"

For example, you might roll Resources to get a fresh horse. On a success, the horse helps you escape the guards. On a failure, the horse is too slow and you get caught. Or, you might roll Resources to get an invite to a royal ball. On a success, you get in and can gather the information you need. On a failure, your contact is in disfavor, which makes everyone else at the ball reluctant to talk with you. Think about it this way: On a success, you can afford or meet exactly what or who you need. On a failure, you must settle for less. The fast horse was out of your price range, so you had to buy the slow one instead. You may also create an advantage using Resources so that people trust you, either because you're known for paying your debts or because mutual contacts vouch for you.

Burglary

Burglary is now Theft. This skill works the same way as in *Fate Core*, but now includes pickpocketing and sleight of hand.



Magic

In the world of *Loose Threads*, magic is extraordinary and few people have access to it. It, like the liminal In-Betweens, is the byproduct of a world caught between pure chaos and livable order. No matter the setting, as long as In-Betweens exist, magic exists. However, only those with a bit of *in-betweenness* or uncertainty about them can use magic. The tension that defines you, that keeps you from being all one thing or another, also allows you to access magic.

Magic comes in four forms: Zaps, Alchemy, Wish, and Great Magic. Only NPCs can access Great Magic; you can choose only **one** of the other three types. If you do not have skill in magic, but must or want to make a Magic roll, roll Wish Magic.

NPC MAGIC

GMs, NPCs may only use magic if they have traits that separate them from regular people. Something about them must be unsettling or inhuman. It can be as obvious as wings or as subtle as an off feeling they inspire. In return, NPCs can use multiple types of magic. They can have Zaps *and* Alchemy, rather than just one. Each type counts as a separate skill, however.

ZAPS MAGIC

Zaps is magical energy that shoots out of your hands or a focus, such as a wand or staff. The form of zaps will vary and may appear as lightning bolts, fireballs, or invisible power. You decide how the energy manifests, but you may only choose one style. If you decide that your power manifests as flames, for example, you cannot also wield lasers. Pick one.

With this skill, you can use magical energy to attack, as with Shoot, and defend. You can also use it to overcome and create advantages.

Zaps Magic Stunts

Scary Display: You can use Zaps instead of Provoke to intimidate others with a show of power.

Staff of Power: You gain +2 to your Magic rolls when using a staff as a focus.



ALCHEMY MAGIC

Alchemy includes potions, charms, and talismans. With Alchemy you can create advantages that can be used to benefit or hinder other people. You cannot, however, use Alchemy to affect yourself or the environment. Providing you have the ingredients and means to carry them, you can create items well in advance of needing them.

With Alchemy, you can roll to create a magical object. When you make one, write down its effect: perhaps it makes the target **FROZEN IN PLACE** or **NOTICE NOTHING UNUSUAL**. Also, write down the difficulty needed to overcome the object's effect, referencing the table below. This difficulty depends on your Alchemy skill rating and whether you succeeded or succeeded with style when making the object.

Alchemy Skill Rating	Succeeded	Succeeded w/ Style
Superb (+5)	Great (+4)	Superb (+5)
Great (+4)	Good (+3)	Great (+4)
Good (+3)	Fair (+2)	Good (+3)
Fair (+2)	Average (+1)	Fair (+2)
Average (+1)	Average (+1)	Fair (+2)

DIFFICULTY TO OVERCOME ALCHEMY MAGIC

When you use the potion on someone, they gain the effect as an aspect. To use the alchemical object, you must roll to attach the aspect to them. If you succeed on an attachment, you gain 1 free invoke. If you succeed with style, you gain 2 free invokes. You might attach the aspect to a target using Shoot (throwing it at them), Stealth (sneaking it into their drink, attaching it to their clothes), or Rapport (convincing them to take it). If you fail this roll, the object might break, get attached to the wrong person, or contain something the target is allergic to.

You may give an alchemical object to an ally to use on a third party, but the ally still must roll to attach it. If you want to use the object on your ally, then roll Rapport or Shoot to hand or toss it over to them. Two rolls are always necessary: one to create the alchemical object and one to attach it.

Someone affected by an Alchemy aspect can try to remove it on their turn by overcoming with Will against the difficulty written down when it was made.

Alchemy Magic Stunts

- **Quality In, Quality Out:** When someone tries to resist your Alchemy Magic, increase its passive opposition by +1 if you created it using high-quality ingredients.
- **Grimoire:** When you're making something you've created before, you gain +2 to your Alchemy roll.

WISH MAGIC

Wish Magic can do anything. When you make a wish, tell the GM what you want to do and then roll. To fulfill a wish, you must roll against Fair (+2) difficulty. The more impossible, involved, or complicated the wish, the higher the difficulty. Wishing for a way out? Fair (+2). Wishing for a *safe* way out? Great (+4). A safe way out to a specific place? Fantastic (+6). A safe way out to a specific place without getting followed? Legendary (+8).

Wish Magic is very powerful, but each time you make a wish, you are handing over narrative control to the GM. The GM always decides how to fulfill the wish. The price of being able to do anything is having your wishes turned against you, even when you succeed on your rolls.

For successful rolls, GMs are encouraged to review stories such as The Monkey's Paw, The Three Wishes, and other Foolish Wish stories—see Type 0750a in the Ashliman Archive linked under *"Resources"* (page 4)—for ideas for how wishes might go wrong.

For failed rolls, the GM might partially grant the wish in the worst way possible or cause the opposite of the desired wish to happen. You wish for a door, but fail your Wish roll; the GM provides a door and, right before you open it, your worst enemy steps through.

Wish Magic Stunts

Wish Magic can take only one stunt: **Wish Guardian**. If you have access to a magical guardian, you can entreat it directly for help three times per major milestone. This may require going to a certain location or using a special talisman. When you turn to your guardian, the GM will interpret your wish more generously than if you'd used Wish Magic on your own. Examples include Katie Woodencloak with her bull's gravestone and Aladdin with his lamp.

GREAT MAGIC

Great Magic is the power to temporarily or permanently alter the world or anything in it. NPCs using Great Magic can control what their magic does, but must pay the price. Great Magic always exacts a cost higher than the magic performed, with permanent spells costing much more than temporary ones. This is why witches and wizards often seem older than their years; they've paid for their magic with their own lives. Consistent users of Great Magic use Alchemy to create a series of objects that absorb the cost for them—such as a fairy godmother's wand—or only perform Great Magic as part of a transaction and demand payment or sacrifice—such as vitality or a Heart's Desire—from whoever requested the magic.

ABUSING MAGIC

GMs, if your players try to abuse the magic system, push back. For Alchemy, make them explain exactly how they plan on carrying thirty bottles of potion to freeze their opponents in place, and play out the consequences with compels. Bottles can break or rattle. Woven talismans get tangled in their bag. Zaps pushed to its limits might be difficult to keep reined in—perhaps palpable heat emanates from the user's skin or lightning dances in their hair, scaring off NPCs and endangering anything nearby. With Wish Magic, interpret their wishes even more narrowly.

Mr. Fox, the Phase Trio Adventure

This adventure is the very first time the characters worked together to solve a problem. In this section, "you" refers to the GM in the instructions and to the players in the script. Run through this script during character creation with your group. If your players are creating characters on their own, then do it at the start of the first session. This Phase Trio Adventure is based on *Mr. Fox*, which is a Bluebeard type of story. You can read the full tale here:

http://www.surlalunefairytales.com/bluebeard/stories/mrfox.html

MR. FOX IN NONTRADITIONAL SETTINGS

Here are the bare bones of the Mr. Fox script. Dress them up in your setting.

First Meeting: Separately you learn that people are going missing and, after deciding to work together, you learn that the culprit is Mr. Fox, who could be a person, monster, company, or other entity. *How did you stop Mr. Fox?*

First Relationship: You are rewarded, which is both nice and overwhelming. You decide to leave or find refuge from the praise. *Why did you start traveling, working together, or both?*

Second Relationship: You've been working together for a long while now and are getting known for it. *How do you feel about the direction your life has taken and the people with whom you share your time?*

First Meeting

During your travels you each ended up in a town named Twist at the same time. Once you learned that young women in Twist had gone missing, you got involved. As you each investigated, you stumbled across each other and decided to pool your abilities and resources to solve the mystery. Together you learned that Mr. Fox killed the women after asking each one to marry him. *How did you stop Mr. Fox?*

Let the players discuss this question together, then continue reading.

Write an aspect that reflects why you got involved or how you stopped Mr. Fox. Make it a general statement that describes one of your motivations for getting involved in others' problems or your preferred way of solving problems. This is your **motivation or method** aspect.

Examples: SUCKER FOR A SOB STORY; LOVE TO SOLVE A PUZZLE; MASTER OF THE UNDERCOVER; SOME PEOPLE DESERVE TO DIE

First Relationship

After you defeated Mr. Fox, the town gave you a small reward of cash and supplies. Even though many of you have deeper resources back home you could draw on—if you were willing to go back home—the reward and thanks of the town were nice, if a bit overwhelming. You decide it is time to leave the town. *Why did you start traveling together*?

Let the players discuss this question together, then continue reading.

Write an aspect that reflects a relationship with another PC or the group as a whole that explains why you would start or continue traveling with them.

Examples: I OWE JACK MY LIFE; I WANT TO KNOW KATHERINE'S SECRET; THIS RAGTAG GROUP COULD BE MY FAMILY; SOMEONE HAS TO PROTECT THESE IDIOTS

Second Relationship

You've been traveling together and helping others out for a couple years now. If someone is in need, you're there. Your group, the Company, isn't famous, but you are well-known enough that those in need know or soon learn to seek you out. *How do you feel about the direction your life has taken and the people with whom you share your time?*

Let the players discuss this question together, then continue reading.

Write an aspect that reflects a relationship with another PC or the group as a whole that describes how you've grown closer over the past few years. If you wrote a relationship with a single person in the previous phase, try to think of a relationship with the group this time, and vice versa, but don't force it if nothing comes to mind.

Examples: PINOCCHIO HAS EARNED MY TRUST; KATHERINE AND I HAVE TO STICK TOGETHER; WHEN IN DOUBT, LISTEN TO JACK; I WOULD DIE FOR THESE PEOPLE; UNITED WE CONQUER; THE COMPANY IS A TICKING BOMB



THE WARP OF THE TALE—NEW MECHANICS

Loose Threads introduces a number of new concepts to support the fairy-tale flavor of the setting: the Heart's Desire (below), the tension (page 16), favors (page 19)—a new form of boost. In this chapter, we'll talk about how those are used in play. We'll also give the modified rules for advancement (page 20).

Your Heart's Desire

Your Heart's Desire is one of your aspects. In play, you may choose to give up your Heart's Desire, but you may just reach a point where you fulfill it.

Giving Up Your Heart's Desire

You can choose to give up your Heart's Desire to save someone else, soaking ten stress that they would have taken, or to make a sacrifice to fuel Great Magic. This is an act of great selflessness.

When you give up your Heart's Desire, change your Heart's Desire aspect to reflect how you cannot have or regain your desire. You will have always given up more than you expected. So, if you gave up your love for someone, you'll lose not only your feelings for that person, but also your ability to feel that depth of love for anyone. As appropriate, change your tension or other aspects to reflect your loss.

While your Heart's Desire is rewritten, you can no longer draw strength from it as a comfort or use it as a motivating force: that is, you can no longer invoke it. Its absence can still be compelled against you, though.

If you've given up their Heart's Desire, you may gain a new one at the first significant milestone *after* you've have accepted your loss through some concrete action—for example, helping your former love find happiness with someone else. If your Heart's Desire had been to be known throughout the ages, giving it up would mean that your name would be forgotten. Confronting that loss could mean writing an anonymous letter extolling the virtue and heroism of someone else.



Fulfilling Your Heart's Desire

In fairy tales, characters often get what they want most because of other people. For that reason, helping your character achieve their Heart's Desire is entirely up to your teammates. Look for opportunities and spend fate points to declare story details to help your teammates achieve their Heart's Desires. While you can spend fate points on yourself, that kind of behavior is rarely rewarded in fairy tales...

A NOTE FOR THE GM

You do not have to help PCs achieve their Hearts' Desires. However, if a player is being generous, consider tossing a relevant hook their way. If they're being selfish, throw up roadblocks. Imagine you're the old crone at the crossroads handing out rewards and consequences and act accordingly.

If you fulfill your Heart's Desire, you treat the next significant milestone instead as a major milestone. If the next milestone is already a major one, you'll instead get two skills points, mark two points of progress toward regaining vitality, and may gain one benefit of a minor milestone.

After fulfilling a Heart's Desire, you must wait at least one full session before declaring a new one. At that point, you may declare a new one at any milestone.

Your Tension in Play

Your tension scale represents two forces that affect your actions. Each time your tension is compelled, these two forces are pulling on you. When your tension is compelled, move your marker one space on your tension scale toward the force that decided how you responded to the compel. Invoking the tension, however, does *not* move the tension marker.

During a single conflict or scene, your character can only move in one direction on the scale. You cannot bounce back and forth. When the scene or conflict ends, your tension marker remains where it is.

A werewolf starting out at **Neutral** decides to let her wolf out to increase her attack in a fight: one step toward **Monster**. While fighting, her control slips further: two steps toward **Monster**. She realizes then that she has to keep control and resist the urge to give in and become a monster.

Every move on this scale carries both a benefit and a cost. For each move, you receive a fate point, but the GM receives a free invoke on your tension.

Also, if you are not on the *Neutral* space, you will receive the bonus and penalty to the actions shown on your space.

Compelling Tensions

GMs and players, when compelling a tension, point out how the current situation or conflict reminds the compelled character of the two forces they're torn between; describe how the character has to choose between the two in that moment, and what actions they take as a result. *They* have to do something for the decision to matter.

Like with other compels, the reason your character moves in one direction or another along their scale must be tied to something happening in the plot, and the compel must affect how your character acts in the scene. Compels of a tension don't have to be as "toothy" as other compels, however, since compelling your tension already carries a cost for your character.

The Company—including Katherine, the **RELUCTANT HEIR SEEKING ADVENTURE**—has just met a runaway princess. They must decide whether to return the princess to her parents or help her escape. This decision reminds Katherine of her tension between *Adventure* and *Duty*. If she decides to take some action to help the princess escape, she moves toward *Adventure*. If she decides to restore the princess back to her parents herself, she moves toward *Duty*. Either of these actions would carry consequences Katherine will have to handle later on.

Players, you can also compel yourself. If you've taken or are taking some actions that lead to something interesting, and you feel those actions align greatly with one side of your tension, move your tension marker.

CREATING CROSSROADS

GMs, for the tension scale to work best, both you and the players must interact with it. Watch for decision points, when a PC must decide between two options of equal value or consequence. Gently interrupt the moment and tell the PC that they are standing at a crossroads and that, no matter what they do, they will be identifying with one side or the other of their personality.

Do not define the choices and how they align with their character's tension for them. The decision is entirely theirs, and they can justify why their decision moves them along their scale in either direction. In fact, the best crossroads are when a player could justify identifying with either side of their tension.

For example, if someone torn between *Duty* and *Adventure* is on watch while their friends sleep and hears a strange noise, they have a choice: follow the noise or stay where they are. Following the noise could be justified as following adventure, because they are chasing something strange, or as fulfilling their duty, because they are warding off a danger. Likewise, staying put could be following adventure, because they are ignoring a possible danger to continue pursuing their current adventure, or as following their duty, because someone on watch should stay on watch.

17

Resolving Tensions

Part of growing as a character is reaching a point where you can resolve the tensions that define you. If your character can decide firmly on one side of their tension, knowing they cannot change their minds, you can resolve their tension.

You resolve your tension when you move your tension marker onto an end of the tension track, beyond the box giving the +2 bonus and -2 penalty. Also, the characters in the Company are imbalanced and uncertain of themselves: If you go through three sessions without moving your tension marker, consider your character settled and content and their tension resolved.

When you resolve your character's tension, rewrite your tension aspect to demonstrate its resolution. You cannot shift your tension marker until the next significant milestone. Until that time, you'll keep the +2 bonus and -2 penalty to the rolls for the actions on the side of the scale you're on.

After rewriting your tension aspect, you'll receive three fate points, *either* an extra refresh *or* an extra mental stress box to demonstrate the state of peace that the decision has given your character, and a moderate consequence to demonstrate the mental strain that the decision placed on your character.

At the next significant milestone, you'll finish resolving the tension in one of two ways. Either you rewrite your tension to show how your character is now caught between two new and different forces, or you retire your character, letting them have the life they've chosen for themselves, and create a new one.

Katherine has repeatedly chosen to chase adventure over doing her duty. Her tension marker is currently two spaces toward *Adventure*, earning her +2 on overcome rolls and -2 on defend rolls. While buying provisions in town, Katherine meets a strange person with an even stranger lantern which he promises will light the way to a new world.

The GM notes that this is a crossroads for Katherine—will she buy the lantern or the needed supplies? Layla, Katherine's player, decides that a sense of duty is no longer a compelling force for Katherine and accepts the compel. She moves Katherine's marker all the way into the *Adventure* square.

Katherine's tension is now resolved. Layla notes the roll bonus and penalty she'll keep until the next significant milestone, writes in a moderate consequence about a lingering feeling of guilt, takes three fate points, and decides to take an extra refresh rather than the extra mental stress box. She rewrites Katherine's tension as **ALWAYS UP FOR ADVENTURE**.

At the next significant milestone, Layla will have to decide whether to retire Katherine as a character or to choose two new forces for Katherine to navigate between.



Favors

Often, in a fairy tale, help offered early on is not paid back until later in the story. Immediate boosts do not always fit well into the fiction. A favor is a special form of boost that lets you model the delayed reciprocation.

Players, you can earn favors in two ways. First, if you succeed with style, you can always choose to gain a favor rather than a boost. Second, you can earn them through the fiction: GMs, if you think the PCs have done something to earn a favor from an NPC, then they do. NPCs can also offer favors in return for tasks.

GMs, while favors are most likely to be relevant during the investigation phase (page 26), PCs can earn them at any time. Favors need not be given by the person the PCs engaged with, but should be given by someone directly affected. For example, if they fought off some bandits attacking a caravan, the caravan leader might offer a favor in gratitude.

The dour miller refuses to talk, but a PC cracks some winsome jokes succeeding with style while overcoming with Rapport—that coax a smile and make her laugh for the first time in ages. She says she owes them one for the laugh and tells them what they need to know.

A favor may be called in whenever the PC who earned it can reasonably access the NPC, and it goes away after its use. The player may use the favor to get help from the NPC—such as +2 to a roll, an introduction to an elusive NPC, a situation aspect with a free invoke when first meeting someone, or access to an area or event. For example, the caravan leader you saved from bandits could introduce you to one of the goblins they do business with or sneak you into the castle of a town where they sell their goods. The leader could also tell you to mention that you're a friend of theirs while you do business in the town, giving you the advantage **FRIEND OF JORY, LEADER OF THE SUN CARAVAN**.

Advancement

Advancement happens during milestones, like in *Fate Core*, but the milestones themselves are a little different.

Minor Milestones

A minor milestone happens at the end of every session.

At one, you may:

• Name a new Heart's Desire, if and only if you fulfilled your old Heart's Desire at least one full session ago

And you may do one of the following:

- Switch ranks between two skills or swap in a new skill for one at Average (+1)
- Change out one stunt
- Buy a new stunt with refresh
- Rename one of your aspects other than your high concept, Heart's Desire, or tension

Significant Milestones

A significant milestone happens at the end of each adventure's return phase, even if it is at the start or in the middle of a session.

In addition to *one* benefit from the minor milestone, you may gain any of the following:

- Allocate one skill point
- · Rename and begin recovering from your severe consequences
- Mark progress toward regaining your vitality, if you have lost any
- Write in a new Heart's Desire, if and only if
 - Your character has lost their Heart's Desire and have confronted that loss, *or*
 - Your character fulfilled their Heart's Desire at least one full session ago

Also, if you resolved your character's tension, you lose the additional mental stress box or refresh you had gained from resolving their tension, and you must either write in a new tension or create a new character.

Major Milestones

A major milestone happens after about every three or four successful adventures or the conclusion of a long arc.

When you reach a significant or major milestone after fulfilling your Heart's Desire, you personally get a bonus. If the milestone is significant, you instead treat it as a major milestone. If the milestone is already a major one, you get, in addition to the benefits listed below, another skill point, another point of progress toward regaining vitality, and one benefit from the minor milestone list. In addition to the benefit of a significant milestone, you may gain any of the following:

- · Rename and begin healing your extreme consequences
- · Get another point of refresh, which you may spend immediately on a stunt
- Advance one skill beyond the current skill cap, if you're able to, thus increasing the skill cap
- Rename your character's high concept
- If you have Wish Magic and took the Wish Guardian stunt: reset the number of appeals made to your character's magical guardian



THE STORY

In this chapter, GMs, we'll give you the tools you need to facilitate compelling *Loose Threads* stories, run adventures, and create NPCs.

Every adventure in *Loose Threads* begins with a fairy-tale-inspired **problem** and **solution**.

First, ask your players their favorite stories or pick one of your own and consider the following questions:

- Who are side characters or antagonists who may have been hurt by the story?
- What happens if a story is just one incident in many?
- What *isn't* solved by the happy ending?

These questions will help you find the problem your players will try to solve. The problem does not have to address all of these questions and, in fact, shouldn't.

Each problem must also have a solution. The solution is not a step-by-step guide to fixing a problem; it isn't even how your players may end up dealing with the problem. The solution is a probable direction for action. When devising a solution, go with the obvious.

The examples below start with a story, answer the three questions above to create story threads and form clear problems and solutions. Each of these would work as starting points for an adventure.

The Twelve Dancing Princesses

Story Threads

- The princesses no longer have a place to dance.
- The betrothed princess may not want to be married.
- The demons are still active underground.

Problems

- The demon princes still need a consort.
- Young women in a large town are disappearing every night and dancing their shoes to shreds.

Solution

• Discover where the young women are going and stop whoever is calling them.

East of the Sun, West of the Moon

Story Threads

- The troll princess is yet unwed.
- The prisoners are still imprisoned.

Problem

• The troll princess east of the sun and west of the moon must marry or else face terrible consequences.

Solution

• Find the princess a spouse.

The Bremen Town Musicians

Story Threads

- Townspeople cannot eat talking animals.
- Someone or something unknown gave the animals consciousness

Problem

• The animals in a small town have all started speaking and playing music, which, while entertaining, is destroying the local economy.

Solution

• Find what has magicked the animals and stop it.

The Boy Who Drew Cats

Story Threads

- The cats he drew are still out there.
- Those cats may not all be good.
- Other demons could be lurking in the world.

Problem

• A village is terrorized each night by a herd of indestructible cats that are attacking whatever they determine to be evil.

Solution

• Discover where the cats originate and stop them.

The Frog Prince

Story Threads

- The witch who cursed the prince is still around.
- Someone put iron around Hans' heart.
- Hans may feel hurt that his prince is getting married.

Problem

• A string of young men across the countryside are now frogs.

Solution

• Turn them back and stop the culprit from transforming more.

Using a Nontraditional Fairy-Tale Setting

If you have decided to use a nontraditional setting, you will need to insert two extra steps between choosing a story and developing story threads. These are the translation steps when you, first, identify the essential elements of the fairy tale and, second, match those elements to something in your setting. The translation does *not* have to be exact or complete.

As an example, let's translate *Little Red Riding Hood* into three different settings, each with its own problem and solution.

Here are its essential elements: a little girl in something identifiable, an errand, a wolf that wants to eat the girl, a distraction, a destination, a grandmother who gets eaten. Given those element, we could make it into a sci-fi, high-school, or urban fantasy story, as described in the following sections.

Sci-Fi

A new recruit with the call sign Red is sent to deliver supplies and meds to a colony. She gets waylaid by a signal inviting her to a hidden space station, but her ship and all its supplies get stolen by the organization that operates the station.

Story Threads: Others may have also disappeared. Various colonies have not received supplies.

Problem: Colonists are dying without their supplies from Red.

Solution: Find Red and deliver the supplies to the colony.

High School

The teacher's pet disappears while delivering some books to the library for a teacher. The wolf is a new student no one has ever seen in class.

Story Threads: Others may have disappeared or are in danger of disappearing. The principal might overreact.

Problem: The school librarian and a student have disappeared. If the administration finds out, the school dance might get canceled.

Solution: Find the student and librarian before the principal finds out.

Urban Fantasy

A young teen is lured from her usual route home from school by a smiling man in the park. She follows him into another world and he takes her place for the night, burgling her home.

Story Threads: Others may have disappeared. The police have no idea what they're dealing with. The smiling man must want something.

Problem: The police are investigating a string of missing teens and burglaries, but are hindered by their ignorance of the magical element.

Solution: Stop the smiling man and rescue the girls.

Constructing an Adventure

Each adventure in *Loose Threads* follows the same steps. Your group will design hundreds of variations, but the basic structure will remain.

$\texttt{Problem} \rightarrow \texttt{Investigation} \rightarrow \texttt{In-Between} \rightarrow \texttt{Snags} \rightarrow \texttt{Solution} \rightarrow \texttt{Return}$

Every adventure begins with a problem for the PCs to solve. They then investigate the problem, journey into the In-Between, and overcome snags until they reach a solution, which then allows them to return, changed, to the start—the client who brought them the problem.

You can stretch out or shorten any step of the structure, repeat steps 2 through 4 several times, nest one adventure within another, or have the solution be insufficient and trigger an immediate problem once the PCs move to the return step.

If you're not running a one-shot, you'll want to make each adventure take two to four sessions to complete. As the PCs reach what they think is a way to solve the problem, pull in a personal test of character or complication. "Yes, but" is a useful strategy here.

Yes, the dragon can help you reach the moon, *but* the dragon is imprisoned or has another obligation or has sworn to never visit the moon again or demands written permission from the moon first.

That said, by not complicating the initial proposed solution, you could fit a single adventure within one session of two to four hours.

So now let's discuss how each of these steps work.

Problem

You already know how to set up the problem the PCs will solve. Now you just need to introduce the problem to the PCs. The PCs are part of the Company, a known problemsolving group, so NPCs will naturally seek them out to solve their problems.

During your first session, ask your players how their characters learn of problems. Do people chase down rumors of the Company until they find them? Does the Company have a regular circuit they travel, and people meet them from town to town? Do people send them messages asking them to visit? Do they have a dropbox for requests that they check regularly?

As your campaign continues, consider how the Company's successes and failures affect how they receive problems. As they become better known, bombard them with multiple problems at once, forcing the PCs to triage and choose which they face first and which they let grow into bigger issues.

LOOSE THREADS



Investigation

During the investigation phase, the PCs learn more about the problem so that they can plan a solution. They gather information, create advantages for later, and encounter NPCs who give information, suggest solutions, or offer costly aid. This phase allows the players to learn about the context of the problem, the resources they can access, and the nature of the nearest In-Between. Investigation can continue into the In-Between as well.

This phase may be as simple as asking the client a few questions or as complicated as tracking down scattered witnesses in a war zone and interrogating them. Let your players be your guide; if they enjoy investigations, complicate and lengthen this portion of the story so that they can indulge their interest.

The PCs may try to talk with NPCs who are reluctant to speak or even unable to—perhaps because they're trapped somewhere. In such cases, your players may roll to overcome the NPC's attitude or circumstances.

In-Between

Eventually the Company must encounter the In-Between, In-Between the liminal space between order and chaos. Rules apply, but those rules vary with place and may change daily or on the hour. Its spaces might be as small as a cabinet or as vast as a desert. Some areas—especially those full of people, creatures, and other denizens—are far more stable and reliable in their physical laws and concepts than those more empty. In-Betweens lurk everywhere, within both the walls and wilds. They live beneath the waves, in the heart of the forest, and among the shadows of that scary house with shuttered windows.

Most people, the people who know who they are and where they belong, avoid these spaces. The Company, however, barges right in. The Company goes where normal people do not: that is what makes them heroic to so many. Magic, treasure, and mayhem hide in the In-Betweens. To help the people they meet, the Company must frequently engage with these strange spaces.

Each In-Between has three to five elements: a descriptive aspect, a monster, a hazard, denizens, and a secret. The only mandatory element is the descriptive aspect, but you'll also choose at least two of the other four elements to construct your In-Between. You can build the In-Between ahead of time or on the fly. As you design an In-Between, try to answer the following questions:

- 1. What is the In-Between like? (descriptive aspect)
- 2. What makes it dangerous? (monsters and hazards)
- 3. Who lives there? (denizens)
- 4. What helpful or unexpected thing is hidden in the In-Between? (secret)

The starting adventure features an example In-Between, the Heart of the Forest (page 38).

Descriptive Aspect

The descriptive aspect suggests the mood of the In-Between and how players might interact with the space. They might encounter two forested In-Betweens, but one might be **FULL OF DISTANT GROWLING** while the other is **SUNNY**, **GREEN**, **AND SILENT**.

A violinist has disappeared and rumors say he spent a lot of time around the river that winds through the city. Jo, the GM, decides to build an In-Between in the river that will be the home of the river king and that the characters can enter without being transformed. She writes the aspect **DRIPPING WITH ANCIENT MAJESTY** to describe the space.

Monsters and Hazards

Monsters and hazards endanger the Company. Monsters are active threats, while hazards are passive ones.

When designing a monster, you can draw from fairy tales or create your own. To make one quickly, use the rules in *Fate Accelerated* for mooks (page 38). For more elaborate monsters and antagonists, use the rules in *"Creating NPCs"* (page 33).

Hazards do not attack the PCs. Instead, they are triggered. Depending on the timing of the effect, PCs may or may not have time to defend. A helpful way to write up hazards is "When [X happens], [the hazard causes Y]."

The golden leaves of the forest are a hazard. When plucked from their branches (trigger), they summon a troll to attack whoever stole a leaf (effect).

The poppies in *The Wizard of Oz* are a hazard. When their pollen is breathed in (trigger), the poppies induce sleep (effect).

Jo decides that the primary threat of the river king's home will be hazards. The king has monsters, but they are under his control. She decides she'll create fish monsters and sea serpents on the fly if her players anger the king enough for him to unleash them. She decides to make two hazards: The first is ghosts who will latch onto characters and start to drown them if the characters brush against them. The players will have to overcome them to get away. The second is the wine. If the characters drink the wine, they must stay another three days in the river king's halls.

Denizens

Denizens are the people and populations inhabiting the In-Between who offer your PCs aid and challenges. For guidance on designing them, read *"Creating NPCs"* (page 33).

Jo populates her In-Between with river spirits, including the river king and his family. She also decides to add a small group of humans: the spouses of the river king's children.

Secrets

Finally, an In-Between may have a **secret**. The secret provides a hook, a twist, or aid. It is not malicious, but it does have complicated consequences and unintended effects.

Complicated is not all negative. Wart pulled the sword from the stone because he needed a sword—becoming King Arthur was the complication. Wart benefited and suffered for being king. At worst, the secrets your In-Betweens hide should offer the same mix of benefits and consequences, ranging from dubiously positive to definitely complicated.

The players do not have to find or use the secret. If they do not find it, move it to the next In-Between. Knowing that a secret is lurking, however, does give your players some additional purpose as they explore the In-Between and provides a handy hook for you if you want to thread in their next adventure.

The secret will be one of three things:

ANOTHER PROBLEM OR TALE

Think of Scheherazade with her nested tales. A secret is one way for you to embed a hook to another adventure. The PCs may encounter the start of a new story before they can solve their current problem. Perhaps they stumble over a hidden child or a transformed prince or princess. The PCs may choose to pursue this new line of story or ignore the plot hook to handle later.

PLOT TWIST

This more traditional secret is a good way to stress a PC's tension or hint at a larger plot. The PCs may learn of conflict brewing elsewhere or discover they are not what they thought—perhaps they are unknowingly royal or common. The knowledge may also take the form of a person: a long-lost sibling, the mother they thought was dead, or a secret son or daughter.

A TOOL OR BIT OF USEFUL MAGIC

The secret may be a hidden item that the PCs can use. Swords in stones, magic cloaks, and talking animals would all classify. The object does not have to be uncomplicatedly helpful. It might be a sword that kills whomever it cuts, but that must be "fed" regularly or else it loses its power.

Jo decides that one of the humans in the In-Between was once the Blue Fairy, whose magic has been stripped away. She figures this provides a good plot hook for her players to explore and creates an interesting confrontation for her friend Damien, who is playing an adult Pinocchio.

Snags in the Story

The Company may encounter **snags** both within and outside of an In-Between, and they come in five types: reversals of fortune, impossible tasks, tests of perception, transformations, and tests of kindness.

Snags are not arbitrary tasks to draw out or complicate a quest; they are tests of character. A snag may provide a benefit to the characters, but in doing so it tests their resolve and how they handle success.

If the PCs succeed at overcoming a snag, they earn a situation aspect with a free invoke to help them solve the adventure's problem. If they fail, the GM receives an aspect against the PCs or an extra fate point they can use at any time until the PCs solve the adventure problem. Once the PCs solve the problem, the GM loses any unused fate points gained through the snags.

Keeping with the fairy tale rule of three—a common story convention in which things happen in threes—PCs should encounter three snags while trying to solve a problem. The three snags do not have to be of the same type.

One common set of three for fairy-tale heroes and heroines is first a reversal of fortune and test of kindness followed by an impossible task. The reversal of fortune puts the character in situations that test their kindness. Then, the allies won through their kindness help them with the impossible task.

Reversals of Fortune

In a reversal of fortune, the characters suddenly find themselves in very different circumstances than they expected. They might be elevated to a position of power and prestige or thrust into slavery, servitude, or oppression. A sudden storm may hit, or the kindly old woman may turn out to be an ogre-in-disguise with a taste for human flesh. In contrast, the PCs may find a cache of gold or wake up in another life where they have incredible power. How people handle and protect sudden fortune can be as interesting as how they overcome sudden misfortune.

Before going into the river to look for the missing violinist, Jo's players decide to stay one more night in the town inn. When the Company wakes up the next morning, all of their valuables are missing, including the gift they had prepared for the river king.

Impossible Tasks

An impossible task often requires wits or willpower. The PCs may have to inspire an emotion—perhaps making someone laugh, cry, or shudder—or solve a paradox, riddle, or disagreement. Or maybe they'll need to find a way to travel up to the moon. Someone may request an impossible task from the PCs, or it may arise organically.

One of the river king's daughters is heartbroken and won't stop crying. "Fix her," the river king tells the Company, "and maybe I'll listen to you."

Tests of Perception

In a test of perception, the PCs must demonstrate how well they know or care for something or someone by finding the true or original among many copies or false ones. This kind of snag sometimes also serves as a proxy for the PCs' own honesty. A more honest person is better able to find the lies. The PCs may ask for a test to prove themselves, or they may find themselves in a situation that tests their perception without even realizing it until they've succeeded or failed.

The river king brings the Company to a large room full of instruments, including at least a dozen violins. "Find his violin and I'll let your musician go."

Tests of Kindness

A test of kindness is when the PCs encounter a situation that they can improve by being kind. For example, they may help an ant colony cross a stream, remove hot buns from an oven, or share their food with a beggar. If the PCs act with malice rather than kindness, those they hurt will act against them. For example, the ants, who might have helped them with a sorting task, instead invade their bedding and bite them all night so that PCs cannot rest. The PCs have become **THE ENEMIES OF ANTS**.

While exploring the river king's halls, the Company finds a man overwhelmed with small children. He's clearly trying to guide them to a room down the hall, but they keep running away from him, giggling. "Do you need help?" Jack asks, stepping in front of and catching a racing child.

Transformations

A transformation changes one or multiple PCs from one state to another. Players, when your character is transformed, fill in your seventh aspect to reflect the change. If you already have a seventh aspect, your character cannot be transformed. When the transformation is reversed or made permanent, clear your seventh aspect.

A transformation can be total—changing into a beast; partial—hands turned to gold; or internal—heart hardens and becomes cruel. While transformations usually involve magic, they can also be physical, such as someone chopping off a PC's hair or dressing them up as something they're not.

Transformations may provide temporary benefits—for example, changing into mermaids for an undersea adventure—but they must eventually be overcome and reversed. Players, the only way to keep your character's transformation is by choosing to sacrifice their old normal, changing their high concept and tension to match. Transformations are never permanent unless the *player* agrees to accept a lasting change as a sacrifice (page 32). The *character* does not have to agree, though.

One of the drowned ghosts surprises the Company by speaking. "A day," he says. "Give me your solidity for a day and I'll tell you what you need to know." Katherine, the reluctant heir, agrees and slowly fades as the ghost grows vibrant and physical. Layla writes **GHOST FOR A DAY** into her seventh slot.

Solutions

The solution is how the PCs solve the problem. A solution must never come cheaply. Use the solution as an opportunity to introduce a final, greater snag or, better, to set up a difficult decision. Alternate occasionally to keep your players guessing about how the solution will play out.

A difficult decision asks the PCs to give something up to get what they want. That is, it requires a **sacrifice**. Either the PCs promise or give up something of themselves or they do not solve the problem—or they solve it at a great cost. Usually, only one PC will need to shoulder the sacrifice for any solution.

Here are some of the sacrifices you may ask of the PCs.

Heart's Desire

Sometimes a solution requires a PC to give up what they treasure or want most in the world. For the full process of losing a Heart's Desire, read *"Giving Up Your Heart's Desire"* (page 15).

The Company is trying to stop a group of townspeople from killing all the wolves in the forest. They have obtained a promise from the spirit of the wolves that the townspeople will be safe, but the townspeople are still hesitant. "What if they break their promise? Who will protect us?" Carly glances at her character sheet. Jack's Heart's Desire is a quiet life. "If he tells them he'll protect them, that's going to spread, isn't it?" Jo nods. "Do you just want to persuade them or are you making a sacrifice here? The news about Jack would spread everywhere." "But then we'll definitely save the wolves." "Yeah."

"Then, I guess Jack is giving up on his quiet life."

Progress

When progress toward a goal is on the line, the possible solution could help either the client solve their problem or one of the PCs fulfill their Heart's Desire or some other character-important goal. The PCs must choose to solve the client's problem over helping themselves. This is the only sacrifice that does not change the character sheet. Instead, the players are giving up an opportunity for advancement.

In the river king's halls, Pinocchio has a chance to finally talk with the Blue Fairy, which is his Heart's Desire. "I will give you your musician," the river king tells the Company, "but you must leave **now**." Pinocchio doesn't linger; he'll have to return for the Blue Fairy some other time.

Promises

The entity providing the solution may demand a promise for action or inaction. The promise may involve anything including delivering mail, helping or refusing to help someone, finding a lost item, gathering ingredients, or protecting something. One PC must accept the burden of keeping the promise. Their player fills in the seventh aspect slot on their character sheet summarizing the promise they've made.

If the PCs break their promise, the player whose character had made the promise clears their seventh aspect space and must give up all of their fate points for the rest of the session. They also start the next session with zero refresh. If a PC takes more than two sessions to fulfill a promise, reduce their refresh by one for each session the promise goes unfulfilled.

"I will make your shoes," the cobbler says, "but you must promise to deliver this box to the brownies who used to work here. I don't know where they are."

"What's in it?" Katherine asks, accepting the box. Layla writes down the promise in her seventh aspect slot.

"Clothes. Theirs must have worn out by now."

Lasting Transformations

If a PC is transformed, they may accept the change as permanent as their sacrifice, changing their high concept to match their new state. They may also consider changing their tension to highlight their struggle to accept their transformed state, though changing their tension in this way does not give the benefits of resolving it.

"If you don't make me turn back into a ghost," the man says, "I'll smuggle your violinist out." Jo looks at Layla. "What is Katherine going to do?" "Refuse. Katherine shakes her head. 'Sorry, I can't stay a ghost."

Tasks Against Their Nature

Every PC has a line they do not want to cross. Perhaps they have sworn to never ask their family for help or to never kill another soul, but in order to solve a problem, that is exactly what they must do.

Doing something against your nature hurts your psyche, forcing you to fill in a severe consequence reflecting that hurt. The following list of words may help in determining how your character is emotionally and mentally hurt by their transgression: guilty, burdened, lost, reckless, penitent, wrecked.

Pinocchio drops the rope he'd used to strangle the old crone whose curses they'd been asked to end. "This isn't why I became real," he says, hoarsely. "I wanted to be good."

Vitality

Your PC may have to sacrifice some of their strength to solve the problem. To do this, you mark off one or more of their stress boxes and leave them marked for three significant or greater milestones. Alternatively, you may take a moderate consequence or worse that will persist for one milestone more than usual.

"This is a powerful magic," the fairy godmother says. "I will need a year of your life. Are you still willing to do this?"
"I'll do it," Jack says.
Jo tells Carly to mark off two of her stress boxes. "You won't be able to withstand as much as you're used to."
"Jack will manage."

Return

The return is when the PCs deliver the solution to the client or otherwise inform the client that they have solved the problem. As the PCs deliver the solution, consider how the client and other NPCs react. If the PCs help someone the community despises, they may be met with anger. Some NPCs could even try to block the PCs from delivering the solution to the client. Alternatively, the return might excite the NPCs and inspire feasts and parties.

Use the return to weave in the next hook, provide some rest, and redefine the relationship between the client, the population or populations they represent, and the PCs.

The return is a significant milestone. For players who sacrificed some of their vitality, this milestone counts as the first of the three they must endure.

Creating NPCs

In *Loose Threads*, unimportant NPCs just have a name and a **population**, which they will act in line with. If the NPC is important, then you'll give them their own aspects, agenda, and skills.

Populations

The world of *Loose Threads* is defined through populations, the cultures that the NPCs belong to. A population might describe a species, the area they live in, and their religion. An NPC might belong to multiple populations, each of which helps define who they are.

Each population has three **traits**, aspects that provide extra bonuses in certain situations. If a population is important, frequently encountered, or has multiple NPCs identifying with it, it may also have a **discord**, some issue that divides the population.

Beyond that, the members of a population typically share a skill due to using it frequently, prizing it in their culture, or sharing it as a tradition. So, as you determine the traits and discord for each population, also choose a skill and set a minimum rating for it. For example, all members of the White Cat's Court have at least Good (+3) Crafts.

WORLDBUILDING WITH SKILLS

The PCs are also from populations. Ask the players which of their characters' skills were common where they grew up and how they learned those skills. The players might hand you some interesting NPCs, places, and stories to explore.

TRAITS

Traits apply to a group within a context. This group may be a single species or background or it may be composed of many species and backgrounds.

Rather than define general, species-wide populations, such as humans, foxes, elves, ogres, or dragons, set or ask your players for two to four words that describe the species within a specific context. Instead of deciding that all dragons are **LITHE**, **SWIFT**, and **MERCILESS**, set that the dragons of the cliffs have those traits, while the deep cave dragons are **CURIOUS**, **CLEVER**, and **MASSIVE**.

You can also define populations by various boundaries, such as a country or village. Those living within the boundary may all be from different cultures and backgrounds, but as members of the particular area, they share some commonalities. For example, all those who live within Friar's Tuck are known to be **FRIENDLY**, **BOISTEROUS**, and **LOYAL**.

When a member of a population other than a named NPC acts in agreement with any of their population's traits, they get a +2 bonus to the roll. For example, if the players are attacked by the dragons of the cliffs, the attacking dragons get a +2 when attacking **SWIFTLY**. A deep cave dragon would get a +2 when intimidating or blocking the players with its **MASSIVE** size.

DISCORD

A population's discord is a deep disagreement among its people, often about their future or identity. What does the population want to preserve or forget? What do they want to be or fear becoming? How do they want to be seen by the rest of the world?

The Kingdom of Morning is torn between promoting **aesthetics** and **craftsmanship**. This discord describes two possible paths for the Kingdom.

The Ravens of Amorn Forest are torn between the **songs our elders taught us** and **learning new songs to sing**. They are torn between the fears of preserving their culture and stagnating.

This discord is an ongoing point of disagreement amongst the population, creating factions, generating conflict, and affecting interactions among NPCs and with PCs. Additionally, NPCs and populations all belong to multiple nested and overlapping populations and must navigate the various discords that situates them within. Players, you may invoke or compel this discord when interacting with a member of the population.

Individuals

NPCs in *Loose Threads* introduce obstacles, provide aid and solutions, share information, and provide texture to the world. Each NPC the PCs encounter should reinforce the transactional, costly nature of the world they inhabit. When an NPC has a large role, you'll want to develop them further beyond their population.

Besides a name and basic description, this type of NPC has three defining characteristics: population traits, an agenda, and a cost. Unlike PCs, NPCs know who they are and where they belong, which means that they do not have a defining tension. Instead, they are part of the ongoing conversations that are their populations' discords.

Other than any skills associated with their population(s), you do not need to plan out an NPC's skills ahead of time. Designate them when they are relevant, whether during prep or mid-game. Once an NPC has used a skill, that skill cannot change.

TRAITS

Each NPC belongs to at least one population and shares one of that population's defining traits. However, just as people in the real world belong to multiple groups, an NPC may also associate with multiple populations. For example, Azalea is a Raven from the Amorn Forest living in the Kingdom of Morning. Ravens from Amorn are **CREATIVE**, **AVARICIOUS**, and **LARGE**. People and other sapient beings who live in the Kingdom of Morning are known as **GENEROUS**, **GRUMPY**, and **TALKATIVE**. Azalea takes **CREATIVE** from the Raven population and **GRUMPY** from the kingdom. Each of these traits acts as an aspect.

If your players meet an important NPC before establishing the populations they belong to, you can give them a pair of adjectives and then use their words as one of the three for the first two populations you create for them.

AGENDA

An NPC's agenda is some state or situation they wish to develop or abolish, related to one or more of the discords in their populations. It's their long-term motivation. The agenda helps identify faction leaders, determine costs, and add depth to your NPCs.

COST

Nothing in this world is free. Each NPC has a cost for helping the PCs. It might be spending time together, helping the NPC get something they want, furthering their agenda, or overcoming an obstacle.

Azalea ca Amorn

Description: A large raven with glossy black wings and silver beak who now lives in the main city of the Kingdom of Morning.

Populations: Ravens of Amorn Forest; Kingdom of Morning

Traits: CREATIVE; GRUMPY

Agenda: The Ravens of Amorn Forest are torn between the *songs our elders taught us* and *learning new songs to sing*. Azalea wants to collect stories from all over the world to bring back to Amorn Forest to convince the other Ravens there to explore beyond the forest and the past.

Cost: Azalea exchanges stories. If the PCs want to learn something useful, they must trade her a story of their own. Alternatively, they can sing or play a song from the Amorn Forest.

Skills: Great (+4) Lore, Fair (+2) Empathy

PECKED TO DEATH

Here is an adventure to help you get started. This adventure includes an In-Between and multiple NPCs. *Pecked to Death* is set in a vaguely medieval European setting using Cinderella as the basis. If you want to use a nontraditional setting, use the guidance on page 24 to translate *Pecked to Death* into your preferred setting.

Request for Aid

The Company receives word of a woman in need of help in their usual way—make sure to confirm with your players what that usual way is. The woman lives in a large town outside of a grand castle. Her home backs a dense forest. Birds watch from the branches. Tree stumps dot the front lawn of the home. All of the windows have been boarded up. A young maid ushers the Company into the dimly lit home. She leads the Company to an overwarm room where a woman sits near a fire. Scars and scabs cover the woman's visible skin and a bandage covers her eyes.

The woman introduces herself as Elda. For the past year, she has been plagued by birds. Her mother and elder sister left months back, hoping that if they travel far enough they will escape the attacking birds. She has not heard from them. She also has a younger stepsister who is now the princess of the kingdom.

"I admit, we were never very kind to Marra. There was a ball to find a bride for the prince and he liked her, but she hadn't told him her name and he forgot her face, so my mother suggested my sister or I try to take her place. But as the prince was taking us to the castle, the birds attacked. I should have known better after they gouged out my sister's eyes, but I still had to try. He was the prince." She shrugs helplessly. "My eyes were a heavy price, but an understandable one. And I do not begrudge my stepsister her happiness. But I would like to go outside. Please, make the birds stop. Haven't I paid enough?"

Problem: Elda is being attacked relentlessly by birds.

Solution: Make the birds stop.

Investigation

The Company explores the house and might find a way into the castle to speak with the princess. They will learn that the birds fly from and return to the forest and that the fairy godmother is attending a conclave of godmothers in the woods. Marra may also be convinced to loan her remaining glass slipper to the Company. The glass slipper could help them overcome the Path of Many Forks snag in the In-Between by providing a focus. The Company may also learn that a nearby kingdom is in shambles after a huge earthquake and a financial disaster that turned all of their gold into straw. Some of the townspeople might also share stories about a governing body of birds known as the Parliament of Rooks.

Eventually, the players must travel into the forest where the In-Between and solutions await.

The Heart of the Forest

Traveling into the In-Between is easy, even thoughtless. The dense forest darkens by degrees. Strange, glowing flowers fill the gaps between branches like stars. Lumbering bears, giant stags, and fanged rats stalk the Company through the trees. The Company will encounter snags as they seek out the fairy godmothers and the Rooks.

If you're playing a one-shot, drop the Parliament of Rooks.

Monsters

Bears, stags, rats, and other beasts.

The beasts receive +2 when biting, intimidating, pouncing, headbutting, or clawing. They get -2 when maneuvering. Easier beasts have one stress box, while more difficult ones have two. A particularly tough beast also has a mild consequence slot.

Hazards

Glowing, carnivorous flowers.

Trigger: Touching one of the flower buds or blossoms

Effect: The flower shoots out microscopic mycelia that attach to whoever touched the flower. The flower sucks out vitality from their victim, who becomes **EXHAUSTED BY LIFE-SUCKING FLOWERS**. The victim's skin glows where they were touched. The aspect persists until the victim has gotten a good night's sleep.

Denizens

The In-Between houses a temporary campsite where the fairy godmothers are meeting for their yearly conclave, as well as the Parliament of Rooks and the Cursed Cats.

Fairy Godmothers are **STUBBORN**, **WISE**, and **CREATIVE**. They are torn between being *judges*—unquestioned authorities who decide where and when magic is used—and being *caregivers*—fallible mentors who provide support rather than rewards and punishments. All fairy godmothers have at least Superb (+5) Great Magic.

The Rooks of the Parliament are **POMPOUS**, **ARGUMENTATIVE**, and **SLY**. They are torn between *unity*—all corvids working together—and *independence*—all corvids mostly acting alone unless facing a similar threat. All Rooks in the parliament have at least Good (+3) Rapport.

The Cursed Cats belong to the Court of the White Cat. They are **INDUSTRIOUS**, **ARTISTIC**, and **INSULAR**. They are torn between *accepting* and *breaking* the curse that turned them from human to feline. All the cats in the court have at least Good (+3) Crafts.

Secret

A long time ago, a fairy godmother transformed a young woman and all of her court into cats who do not age. The young woman had been given to the fairies in exchange for the safety for her parents' kingdom, which was being terrorized by a dragon. Locked in a tower, the young woman managed to fall in love and escape. Shortly after her marriage, the fairies and dragon found her. The dragon ate her husband and the fairies transformed her and her new court into cats. Until the woman finds a prince resembling her late husband and earns his love, she cannot break the curse. She and her court have been waiting a very long time and have become very talented at creating all manners of crafts and arts.

Snags

The Path of Many Forks: This test of perception is one of the first snags the Company encounters within the woods. Suddenly they reach a path that explodes into more options than could possibly be present. They see the impossible. The paths lead everywhere in the world, even back in time. If they are able to focus on the paths using some item related to where they want to go, they may notice the banners signaling the godmother camp or the increasingly younger trees of a path to the past.

Lost Baby Bird: Shrill, thready chirps from the undergrowth off the path call the Company to this test of kindness. Locating the baby bird may mean losing their path, but helping the chick find its parents or its nest will earn the respect and appreciation of the Rooks.

Professional Dilemma: The fairy godmothers wrestle with an impossible task. They ask the Company to share their opinion on a dilemma one of their younger godmothers has posed to the group. One of the godmothers summarizes the situation: A godmother must ensure that her charge is happy, but the girl is a princess who wants to escape her responsibilities. How should the godmother help her charge?

Stopping the Birds

The Company works with the fairy godmothers to get protection for Elda and reassurance for the Parliament of Rooks. This costs them a promise. After making a gesture that helps the Prime Minister, either a promise or a donation of vitality, the Company stops the avian assault on Elda. The news from the Parliament may take a while to spread among all of the birds, which is why the protective amulet from the fairy godmothers is useful.

The Return

The Company return to Elda to share the news of their success. However, they have new obligations to fulfill and other clients to help. The Company debates on who to help next.

The Strangers You Meet

Miriva the Fairy Godmother

Description: Overexcited old woman with cotton-candy hair and toffeebrown eyes. She can create an amulet that will protect Elda from the birds.

Populations: Fairy Godmothers (**STUBBORN**, **WISE**, **CREATIVE**); Vale (**TRADITIONAL**, **GENEROUS**, **FAMILY-ORIENTED**)

Traits: STUBBORN; GENEROUS

Agenda: Miriva believes fairy godmothers are too strict in their definition of who deserves magical aid and wants to expand it to include the moderately fortunate and boys, such as Iron Henry.

Cost: Promise to help Iron Henry, the servant who bound his heart in iron after his prince was transformed into a frog. Such love deserves award. **Skills:** Epic (+7) Great Magic, Good (+3) Resources



Prime Minister of the Rooks

- **Description:** A Rook about as large as an owl. His talons and the edges of his beak are dark silver. He can arrange for the birds to leave Elda and her older sister alone.
- **Populations:** The Parliament of Rooks (**POMPOUS**, **ARGUMENTATIVE**, **SLY**); The Rooks of the Wildwood (**CLEVER**, **QUICK**, **TALKATIVE**)

Traits: ARGUMENTATIVE; CLEVER

- **Agenda:** The Prime Minister wants to strengthen the ties among all corvids, not just Rooks.
- **Cost:** The Prime Minister needs reassurance that he will not be angering the fairy godmothers, and he will need a token to show the parliament as a mark of strength. This token may be some vitality or a promise, depending on the relationship between the Company and the parliament. **Skills:** Superb (+5) Rapport, Good (+3) Deceive



Alba, the White Cat

Description: A princess transformed by a fairy godmother into a small, shy white housecat. She and her court can create all sorts of crafts. Thanks to her experiences with fairy godmothers, Alba knows a bit about how they work.

Populations: The Court of the Cursed Cats (INDUSTRIOUS, ARTISTIC, INSULAR)

Traits: ARTISTIC

Agenda: Alba wants to become human again.

Cost: She wants relief from her curse—some novel entertainment for a temporary distraction from her state or a promise to help her find the prince who resembles her late husband, as that will break her curse.

Skills: Good (+3) Crafts

